United Nations Ac.e54/5R.28

e\
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 10 December 1999
S 27 28

7 Official Records Original: English

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 28th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Friday, 5 November 1999, at 10 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Franco (Vice-Chairman) .............. ... (Colombia)

Contents

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its
fifty-first session (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-82217 (E)



A/C.6/54/SR.28

In the absence of Mr. Mochochoko (Lesotho), Mr. Franco
(Colombia), Vice-Chairman, took the Chair.

The meeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m.

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law
Commission on the work of its fifty-first session
(continued) (A/54/10 and Corr.1 and 2)

1. Ms. Telalian (Greece), referring to chapter V of the
Commissions's report, said that the adoption of the draft
articleson Stateresponsibility intheform of aconvention
would contribute greatly to the prevention of
internationally wrongful acts. Her delegation noted with
satisfaction the progress made by the Commission on
chaptersllil, 1V and V of thedraft articles. Her delegation
was pleased with the Special Rapporteur’s recasting of
chapter IV and could go along with the Commission’s
decision to narrow the application of article 27 so that, if
aStateassisted another Statein performingawrongful act,
its own responsibility would be entailed.

2. Oneof the most sensitive issueswas the question of
countermeasures, which was dealt with in chapter V, part
one, and chapter Ill, part two. The institution of
countermeasuresexistedininternational law, asshownby
State practice. The International Court of Justice had
provided useful guidance on countermeasuresin the Case
concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project, in which
the Court had considered that countermeasuresfell within
the scope of State responsibility. In that judgement, the
Court had examined the lawfulness of countermeasures
from the standpoint of the conditions that must be met to
avoid potential abuse on the part of the injured State. A
basic element in that regard was the principle of
proportionality, inthe sensethat countermeasuresmust be
commensuratewiththeinjury suffered. Another condition
of lawful countermeasures was reversibility. The
Commission should reflect upon such legal limitationsin
its consideration of circumstances precluding
wrongfulness.

3. Her delegation supported the idea that
countermeasures should be linked to compulsory
arbitration, whichwouldfacilitatethe peaceful settlement
of disputes. Nevertheless, the issue raised many
controversial questions, such aswhich State should have
the right to commence arbitration.

4.  Furthermore, countermeasures against an
international crime, such asgenocideor aggression, should
entail the legal consequences arising under the collective
security system established by the Charter of the United

Nations. Indeed, the adoption of countermeasures should
not be left to individual States, but should be the
prerogative of the Security Council, acting under chapter
VI of the Charter.

5. Her delegation considered the inclusion of the
definition of State crimes in article 19 to be one of the
Commission’s major achievements.

6. TheCommission’ sdecisiontodivideinternationally
wrongful acts of States into “international delicts” and
“international crimes” wasat thecoreof thewhol econcept
of State responsibility, which in turn was a pillar of
international law.

7. Turning to the topic of reservations to treaties
(A/54/10, chap. VI), she said that the definition of
reservations contained in the report was a balanced one.
Theinclusionof unilateral declarationsthat concernedthe
treaty asawhole, and not just some of its provisions, was
apositive step.

8. Cross-border declarations that excluded the
applicationof theentiretreaty under certain circumstances
werereally reservationsand should betreated assuch. The
section of the Guide to practice that dealt with that issue
clarified the ambiguity existing in the definition of
reservations under the Vienna regime.

9. There had recently been an increase in unilateral
declarations that excluded or limited the application of a
treaty as a whole to certain categories of persons; it was
unclear, however, whether such declarations could be
identified asreservations. In the context of the European
Framework Convention for the Protection of National
Minorities, for example, States had submitted
“declarations” concerning their understanding of the
notion of national minorities. The legal effect of such
declarations was not yet clear, and the Convention
monitoring body would soon be confronted with that
guestion.

10. Nevertheless, themonitoringbodiesof the European
Convention on Human Rights, particularly the European
Court of Human Rights, had consistently treated such
cross-border declarationsasreservationsand had examined
their validity in the light of the special nature of the
Convention.

11. The Guide also laid down criteria for determining
whether a unilateral declaration was areservation. That
distinctionwasimportantinview of thelegal consequences
attachingtoreservations. Moreover, Statesneededtoknow
the legal character of a unilateral statement for the
purposes of the application of the 12-month tacit



A/C.6/54/SR.28

acceptance rule under article 20, paragraph 5, of the
Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. The criterion
of the content, rather than the form, of a unilateral
declaration and that of thedrafters’ intentionto modify or
restrict the legal effect of certain provisions of the treaty
were decisive in order to make that distinction.

12. Reservations to treaties, particularly human rights
treaties, raised many difficult and controversial questions
relating to their admissibility. Most human rightstreaties
did not contain areservation clause, and reservations to
them were subject to atest of compatibility with the object
and purpose of the treaty. The confusion and uncertainty
that existed in relation to the system of compatibility and
opposability, aslaiddowninarticles19to 23 of theVienna
Convention onthe Law of Treaties, must be addressed on
a priority basis. The competence of the human rights
monitoring bodies to determine the compatibility and
validity of reservations should also be explored.

13. With regard to nationality of natural persons in
relationtothesuccessionof States(A/54/10, chap. V), the
draft articles, which should be submitted to the General
Assembly in the form of a declaration, contained many
positive elements. She noted, however, that they were
drafted mainly along the lines of national legislation
governing procedural issues of nationality, rather than as
rules or standards of international |aw.

14. Furthermore, article 19, which gavethird Statesthe
right to intervene in a matter in which they had no
competence, should not be included in the text.

15. Theright of option, which was granted only in part
two and not in part one, raised many questions. Her
delegationfailedtounderstandthereasoningbehindarticle
26, whereby the predecessor State gave a right of option
even to that part of its population which had not been
affected by the succession.

16. Lastly, her delegation noted with satisfaction that
former article 27 had been del eted from the draft. Current
article 3 was well drafted and in line with the principles
of international law. Her delegation objected strongly,
however, totheinclusioninthecommentary onthat article
of theideas that had been contained in former article 27.
Indeed, the last paragraph of the commentary might lead
to the conclusion that the aggressor might give his
nationality to the victim population. Such a solution was
also contrary to thetwo Viennaconventionson succession
of States.

17. Notwithstanding those comments, her delegation
believed that the draft articles could serve as useful
guidelinesfor States.

18. Turning to the topic of international liability for
injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited
by international law (A/54/10, chap. 1 X), she said that her
delegation supported the Commission’ s decision to focus
first on the question of prevention of transboundary
damagebeforeembarking ontheissueof compensationfor
harm caused. The latter issue was, however, a very
important element of thetopi c of preventionand should not
be separated from it. Moreover, a future international
instrument on prevention should also contain the
obligation of reparation for damage caused. The
Commission should undertake an examination in depth of
that question.

19. Mr. Dufek (Czech Republic), referring to chapter
VIII of the report, said there was no doubt that States
frequently enteredintopolitical andlegal commitmentsby
means of unilateral acts. Such acts were often of
considerableimportanceininternational rel ations, yetthey
remainedill- definedininternational law. Accordingly, the
Commission’s efforts to bring a degree of certainty and
predictability to the functioning of unilateral acts were of
great value. Hisdel egation noted with satisfaction that the
Secretariat had recently circulated a questionnaire to
Governments concerning their practicein that area.

20. Hisdelegation agreed with the Commission that at
the current stage the scope of the study on thetopic should
be confined to unilateral acts of States. While other
subjects of international law, particularly international
organizations, were also able to carry out unilateral acts,
it would be very difficult to formulate general principles
relating to both States and international organizations.
There was no legal regime common to all international
organizations, and it was difficult to define general rules
even with regard to the organizations themsel ves.

21. Hisdelegation believed that the Vienna Convention
ontheLaw of Treatiesof 1969 should serveasamodel for
the elaboration of thedraft articleson unilateral acts. The
Conventionappearedtohavebeenespecially helpful inthe
drafting of articles 4 and 7 proposed by the Special
Rapporteur.

22. Nevertheless, his delegation had misgivings
regarding article 6. While rules on the expression of
consent to bebound by an obligationwereundoubtedly very
important, his delegation was not convinced that it was
necessary in that instance to abide strictly by the Vienna
Convention, particularly article 11 thereof. Initsview, all



A/C.6/54/SR.28

the essential rules could be derived from the definition of
unilateral legal acts in draft article 2, and no specific
provision was necessary in that regard.

23. Concerning draft article 2, his delegation preferred
theterm“unilateral act” to“unilateral declaration”, since
it understood the term “declaration” to mean the formin
which an act was formulated.

24. Concerningdraftarticle3,itwasself-evidentthat all
States had the capacity to formulate unilateral legal acts;
hence, the provision was unnecessary.

25. TheCzechdelegationsharedthemajority viewinthe
Commissionthat it wasinappropriatetodeal withtheissue
of reservations in connection with unilateral acts.
Reservations were a specific kind of unilateral act which
could bediscussed only inthecontext of thelaw of treaties.

26. Mr. Keinan (Israel), referringto chapter V111 of the
report, reiterated hisdel egation’ sconcernthat any attempt
to classify unilateral declarationswithin strict categories
would run counter to international practice, with the
inevitable result that ways would be found to bypass the
restrictions. Nevertheless, inthelight of thegeneral trend
towards proceeding with consideration of the topic, he
would concentrate on theissuesreferred to in the opening
statement by the Chairman of the Commission.

27. Hisdelegation shared the view that inthe searchfor
an adequatedefinition of unilateral actsof States, it would
bebeneficial to draw parallelswith thelaw of treatiesand
to utilize that law, mutatis mutandis, as a guide.

28. Hisdelegation was also of the view that unilateral
acts of States should not be subject to specific formal
criteria. The problem resided in the interpretation of the
State’s intention and the circumstances in which the
declaration was made, as well as the content of the
declaration. Such matters could not be settled strictly by
general rules.

29. The Special Rapporteur’s suggested focus on the
intention of the performing State as a criterion for
determiningthepossiblelegal consequencesof aunilateral
act wasproblematic, inview of thedifficulty of evaluating
amanifestation of thewill of aState. Thelinebetween acts
intended to produce legal consequences and those falling
within therealm of politics was often blurred. Statements
of intent were not necessarily meant as legally binding
commitmentsunlessthesurrounding circumstancesmade
that clear. Accordingly, emphasis should be placed on
defining unilateral acts of States on the basis of
circumstancesfromwhichthelegal natureof theact could
beinferred.

30. Withregardtothedefinition of unilateral legal acts
indraftarticle2, hisdelegation agreed that the expression
of will must be demonstrated unequivocally. That did not
imply that thecontent of thedeclaration could not bevague
or subject to conditions. Indeed, there might be instances
where declarations of that kind would also entail legal
consequences. Theterm* unequivocally” should bedefined
as distinguishing between unilateral acts that used the
language of obligation in respect of future conduct and
thoseinwhichaStateonly “intended” or “ planned” totake
action.

31. Moreover, the expression of will should be
formulated with theintention of acquiring or maintaining
international legal obligationsor rights, rather than legal
obligations alone.

32. Hisdelegation shared theview that the requirement
of an autonomous expression of will was of great
importance, althoughtheterminol ogy might beconfusing,
as the Special Rapporteur had also intended it to
encompassthenotion of beingindependent of pre-existing
treaty or customary norms. His delegation had doubts as
to whether such a requirement was practical, in that
unilateral acts of Stateswere often formulated in relation
totreaties, whilestill preserving their autonomousnature.
Inany event, if such adistinctionwasto bemade, it should
be referred to separately and explicitly.

33. Inthat connection, hisdel egationwishedtocomment
on the Special Rapporteur’ s assertion that the content of
aunilateral act could not be subject to conditions, as such
actswerepresumed to fall withinthetreaty sphere. While
conditions that required the acceptance of another State
would strip the unilateral act of itsautonomous nature, in
thesenseinwhich that termwasunderstood inthe current
draft, other kinds of conditions might be permissible, for
instance, in cases where a State undertook to act in a
certainway, providedthat no changein circumstancestook
place or that certain natural events occurred.

34. Astotheelement of publicity, hisdelegation shared
the view that such arequirement should be understoodin
thestrictest sense, andthat aunilateral act must benotified
explicitly by the performing State to the addressee of the
act in order for it to produce legal effects. Any other
interpretationwouldruncounter totheconcept of informal
consultations and confidential negotiations, which were
essential in the international arena.

35. Asto the capacity to formulate unilateral acts, his
delegation agreed that for a unilateral act to produce
international legal effects, it must be formulated by a
representative empowered to engage the State in its



A/C.6/54/SR.28

international relations, such as heads of State, heads of
Government and ministers for foreign affairs. Other
representatives, such as ministers, diplomats and official
experts, should not be considered as competent organs of
a State for the purpose of formulating legally binding
unilateral acts.

36. Despitetheconsiderableimpact of unilateral acts of
Stateson thedevel opment of customary international law,
State practice was not uniform, and it provided only a
limited number of casesinwhich aunilateral act had been
recognized as binding. The utmost care should beused in
definingthat element, asabsurd situationswoul d otherwise
result in which States would be compelled to designate a
legal adviser to examine the possible legal ramifications
of every public statement made by their officials.

37. Lastly, his delegation urged the Commission to
examine additional elements not discussed in the reports
of the Special Rapporteur, such asthe duration of validity
of unilateral acts of States, the capacity to annul a
unilateral act in force and the validity of conflicting
unilateral actsmadeby different official representativesof
a State.

38. Mr. Martens (Germany), referring to chapter VIl
of thereport, said that the draft articles on unilateral acts
of Statesprovided asound basisfor further discussion. His
delegation agreed with the Commission, however, that as
the item was still relatively new, it would be a good idea
to gather evidence of State practicein that area.

39. With regard to draft article 2, there was probably
room for improvement in the definition of unilateral acts
of States. The circumstances under which aunilateral act
created|egal rightsand obligationsmust beclarified. State
practice could help to distinguish between acts intended
to produce legal effects and those formulated for political
purposes only.

40. Thedraftarticlesshouldalsoaddresstherelationship
between unilateral acts and customary international law
and treaty obligations. Article 7, paragraph 6, which
concerned the relationship between unilateral acts and
peremptory normsof international law, should beexpanded
inordertoclarify possibleconflictsbetweenunilateral acts
and customary | aw, treaty obligationsand Security Council
or General Assembly resolutions. On the other hand, his
delegationsaw noreasontoincludeindraft article6arule
governing situations in which domestic law prohibited
State representatives from unilaterally making legally
binding commitments on behalf of a State.

41. Turning to chapter X of the report, he said that the
introduction of split sessions of the Commission was
apparently viewed as helpful by its members. If split
sessions increased attendance at meetings of the
Commission and enhanced their productivity, his
delegation could support them, at least for the following
year. His delegation had been informed, however, that a
single split session of the Commission resulted in an
additional expense of $110,000, an amount equivalent to
the annual salary of alegal officer of the Secretariat. The
expense could beoffset, at least in part, if thelength of the
Commission’s sessions was reduced by one week. That
would mean atotal of 11 weeks of meetings, rather than
12. Inview of the enhanced productivity of split sessions,
such a reduction would not necessarily curtail the
Commission’s output or the quality of its work.

42. TheSecretariat should providedetailedinformation
about the financial implications of split sessions of the
Commission to the Sixth Committee, which, asthe main
committee of the General Assembly primarily responsible
for the Commission, had as much need to be informed as
the Fifth Committee.

43. Close cooperation with States, international
organizationsand other bodieswasundoubtedly necessary,
and he assumed that all comments made in the Sixth
Committee were duly recorded and transmitted to and
taken note of by the Commission.

44. Careful evaluation of States commentsin the Sixth
Committeemight eliminatetheneedfor extensivedetailed
guestionnaires from the Commission, which could be a
strain on resources, and were sometimes forwarded to
universities and other academic institutions. Instead of
i ssuing questionnaires, the Commission couldincreaseits
direct cooperationwiththerelevant academicinstitutions.
A close dialogue had already begun with international
institutions such as the Committee of Legal Adviserson
Public International Law within the Council of Europe.

45. Cautionshould beexercisedinrelationtonew areas
of work, to avoid duplication of thework of other, possibly
more specialized, international bodies. In view of the
present heavy workload of the Commission, new
codification endeavoursin thefield of environmental law
might be better |eft to the various organs and institutions
specialized in environmental problems.

46. Mr. Baena Soares (Brazil) said that objective
consideration of the subject of unilateral acts of States
would ensurethat thefinal product was effective and free
from abstractions. The definition provided in paragraph
589 of the Commissions’ s report asabasisfor discussion



A/C.6/54/SR.28

contai ned someindispensabl eel ements, and omitted some
ideaswhichhad beenincludedinthe Special Rapporteur’s
initial proposal, including the term “unequivocal” to
describe the manifestation of the will of a State. The
Commission had already accepted that the interpretation
of unilateral acts should be one of the pointsto consider in
the short term. The condition of public formulation of the
unilateral act had also been omitted, while it was still
specified that the act should be made known to the other
Stateor international organizationthrough notificationor
in some other way.

47. As the Special Rapporteur had explained, the
declaration was indeed the basic instrument in the law
governingunilateral acts, andtheconcept of “ reservation”
should not be applied in that context.

48. Althoughtheconcept of autonomy had beenincluded
intheoriginal definition, with aclear purpose, Brazil had
no strong objection to its provisional exclusion.

49. It was appropriate to request the Secretariat to
prepare atypology of the various forms of unilateral acts
which could be identified in the practice of States.

50. Responding promptly tothequestionnairementioned
in paragraph 594 of thereport would bean effectivemeans
for Governmentsto cooperatewiththe Commissionandthe
Special Rapporteur inthat area. The questionswerewell-
formulated, and of particular interest was the question
related to the capacity to act on behalf of the State to
commit it by meansof aunilateral act. The question about
therulesof interpretation applicabletounilateral actsalso
required special attention.

51. In relation to the future work of the Special
Rapporteur, his del egation endorsed the comments made
in paragraph 597 of the Commission’s report as

appropriate.

52. Turning to chapter X oninternational liability for
injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited
by international law, he said his delegation supported the
second option proposed by the Special Rapporteur relating
tofutureworkinthat area, namely deferring consideration
of the question of international liability until the
Commission had compl eted thesecond reading of thedraft
articles on prevention of transboundary damage from
hazardous activities. More rapid progress could be made
onthetopicif Governmentswould present their comments
in writing as soon as possible.

53. Mr. Al-Baharna (Bahrain) referring to the subject
of nationality in relation to the succession of States, said
that his delegation had no substantive objections to the

draft articles on nationality of natural personsinrelation
to the succession of States, and wished to commend the
adoption of a series of draft articles which highlighted
principles reflected in a number of human rights
instruments.

54. Thetopic of reservations to treaties was one of the
fundamental aspects of international law and a basic
element in the contemporary practice of Statesinrelation
to the conclusion of multilateral treaties. The draft
guidelines on reservations were a great stride forward in
the Commission’stask in that area.

55. Guideline 1.1.1 on the object of reservations could
give rise to doubts about the possibility of making a
reservation to a“treaty asawhole”. Thefirst two lines of
the guideline could be revised to read: “A reservation
purports to exclude or modify the legal effect of certain
provisions of atreaty or of certain specific aspects of the
treaty asawhole”.

56. Guideline1.3.3would beclearer if divided into two
guidelines: onerelatingtoatreaty prohibiting reservations
to all of its provisions, and the other relating to a treaty
prohibiting reservations to certain of its provisions. The
last three lines could be revised to read: “... except when
it purportsto exclude or modify the legal effect of certain
provisionsof thetreaty or of certain specific aspectsof the
treaty asawhole, in their application to its author”.

57. Guideline 1.4.3 was unclear, as a number of States
had referred to their statements of non-recognition as
reservations. If such statements were not reservations, it
might be asked how the obligations of the authors of such
statementstowardsthenon-recognized entitieswhichwere
parties to the treaty could be reconciled. Naturally, the
State making the statement, whether it was termed a
reservation or a statement of non-recognition, would not
accept tobebound by any obligationarisingfromthetreaty
concerned vis-a-visthe non-recognized entity party tothe
treaty. The legal effect of the term “statement of non-
recognition” on the obligations of States should be
explained.

58. Inguidelinel.4.1,onemight ask what thelegal effect
of a “unilateral commitment” was, whether a unilateral
commitment would be binding on the author of such a
statement in the context of the guideline, and whether it
would be enforceabl e against its author even though such
astatement purportedtoimposeuponitsauthor obligations
which transcended those imposed on it by the treaty.
Exceptforitsconnectionwiththeobligationsarisingfrom
thetreaty, such astatement of commitment would nodoubt
resemble a unilateral act.



A/C.6/54/SR.28

59. Guideline 1.6. on the scope of definitionswould be
better placed at the beginning of the set of guidelines,
immediately after guideline 1.1.1.

60. All the new termsin the guidelinesto which he had
just referred might require further explanation, and their
legal effects could perhaps be elaborated upon.

61. Onthesubject of unilateral acts of States, he said it
seemed advisable to adopt the more restrictive approach
proposed by the Special Rapporteur inhisfirst and second
reports. Such acts were the exception to the generally
acceptedrulethat Stateswerebound, internationally, only
by the agreementsand treatieswhich they concluded with
other States and international organizations.

62. Unilateral acts should be those acts or statements
which produced legal effects or gave rise to legal
consequences. The work of the Commission on the topic
should be limited to States alone as subjects of
international law, thus excluding other subjects of
international law such as international organizations.
However, such exclusion should not affect the
contemporary practice of addressing unilateral acts of
States to both States and international organizations,
without distinction. Thus, for the purposes of the study of
thetopic, whileunilateral actsof Statescould beaddressed
to such organizations, their capacity to formulate them
might not berecognized or dealt with. Itwasalsogenerally
agreed that such unilateral acts, the characteristics and
effectsof whichwere governed by thelaw of treaties, were
to be excluded from the ambit of the topic. Similarly,
unilateral acts whose normative effect arose from
performanceor existenceof someother act or treaty should
also be excluded.

63. Unilateral acts of States were autonomous and
completely independent of any treaty regime. Unlike
treaties, they did not require notification or acceptance by
the States or other subjects of international law to which
they were addressed. Accordingly, the study should deal
strictly with those autonomous unilateral acts of States
which had been formul ated with the intention of creating,
by themselves, international legal effects or international
obligations for such States.

64. Ontheissueof therelationshipbetweentheunilateral
actsof Statesandthesubject of Stateresponsibility, hesaid
his delegation also shared the view that, in line with the
principal objective of the study, which was to provide a
strictly limited definition of what was meant by unilateral
acts of States, unilateral acts giving rise to international
responsibility should be excluded from the study. That
approach would also help the Commission to avoid any

possible duplication or repetition of the subject of State
responsibility, which was being considered as a separate
topic. The latter topic clearly dealt with international
wrongful acts of States that gave rise to international
responsibility. On the other hand, the topic of unilateral
acts of States was essentially concerned with a different
regime, that of autonomousunilateral actsthat werebeing
formulated by States with the intention of creating
obligations for those States. Naturally, such obligations
werenot based ontreaty obligations, asinthecaseof State
responsibility.

65. The word “legal” was not needed to qualify the
expression“unilateral act” asthedefinitionclearly referred
tounilateral actsthat created “international legal effects”,
and not merely statements of a political nature.

66. The expression “unequivocal” used to qualify the
unilateral act was considered by the Working Group as
unduly restricting the scope of the topic. However, that
qgualificationwassignificant, asit wasdifficulttoimagine
the formulation of a unilateral act that was unclear or
contained implied conditions or restrictions. There could
be no binding force for such equivocal or qualified
statementsagainst their authors, especially whenthelatter
could revoke them on the ground that the implied
conditionsor restrictionsattachedtotheunilateral actshad
not been met or acted upon by the States to which the
unilateral acts were addressed.

67. The omission in the Commission’s report of the
expression “formulated publicly” used in the Special
Rapporteur’s definition and the replacement of that
expression by the words “notified or otherwise made
known” werejustified onthegroundthat not all unilateral
acts required the use of the mass media to make the act
widely known to the international community.

68. Similarly, he agreed that the phrase “the
international community as awhole” should be excluded
from the definition. It was questionable that the
international community asawhole could possibly be the
addressee of a unilateral act.

69. The phrase “with the intention of acquiring
international legal obligations” wasal so questionedinthe
report on the ground that unilateral acts could also
“purport to acquire or maintain rights’. The alternative
proposed wording, “intendsto producelegal effects’, was
not clear enough. The phrase contained in the Special
Rapporteur’ sdefinitionwasmoredefinite, astheintention
of the State author of the act was quite clear. However, the
phrase could be reformulated to read “with the intention
of acquiring legal obligations or maintaining rights”.



A/C.6/54/SR.28

70. Finally, theword“autonomy” should beleft without
brackets, as a necessary element of the definition. He
shared the view of other members of the Commission that
theinclusion of that element in the definition was needed
in order to “exclude unilateral actswhich were subject to
treaty regimes’.

71. With regard to chapter IX, he noted that the
Commission had decided to suspend work on the question
of liability until the draft articles on the regime of
prevention had been completed. The Sixth Committeehad
endorsed that decision, agreeing that attention should be
focused on prevention. A number of del egations, however,
including his own, had emphasized the need to continue
work on the topic of liability as well: the principles
governing prevention could not be isolated from those
governing liability. Moreover, the topic of prevention
would be incomplete without the development of rules
governingliability arising fromthe consequencesof harm
or non-compliance in general. The Commission should
thereforeendeavour tofind agenerally accepted definition
of the scope of a regime of liability for activities not
prohibited by international law. Difficult though it might
be to put in place such a regime, the topic should not be
rejected. Indeed, it wasboth essential and complementary
tothetreatment of the regime of protection. Furthermore,
it was clear from the Special Rapporteur’s report that
positive steps were being taken by the international
community to evolve and formulate rules in relation to
liability.

72. Mr. Rogachev (Russian Federation), speaking on
chapter 1X, said that the obligation of prevention of
transboundary damagewasan obligation of conduct not of
result. Its violation therefore entailed international
responsibility for the State concerned, regardless of the
existence of damage. If there was damage, not only State
responsibility wasinvol ved but al so operator liability. The
obligation of prevention naturally entailed due diligence,
but he noted that such duediligence could not beidentical
forall countries: standardsthat werenormal for devel oped
countriesmight be unattainablefor countriesin economic
difficulties. His delegation therefore endorsed the use in
compliance procedures of the sunshine approach and
incentives to comply, with the use of sanctions as a last
resort. It wasimportant to maintain abalance of interests
between the acting State — in whose territory the
hazardousactivity took place— andtheaffected State. His
delegation considered that the draft articles followed the
correct approach and were in keeping with contemporary
international law.

73. Discussions within the Commission and the
Committee showed that progress on establishing a
universal set of rulesonliability for transboundary damage
onobjectivegroundswasvirtually out of the question. His
delegation, therefore, althoughfully persuaded of theclose
links between a regime of prevention and a regime of
liability, agreed with the majority of the Commission —
and, it seemed, of the Committee— that work on thetopic
of international liability should be suspended until the
regime of prevention wasfinalized in its second reading.

74. Thequestion of the settlement of disputesrelatingto
theinterpretation andimplementation of thedraft articles
should be addressed at alater stage, when the final form
of the draft articles became clear. Meanwhile, his
delegation favoured the inclusion of “soft” procedures,
such as consultation, negotiation, investigation and
conciliation. It was also agreeable to the inclusion of
provisionssimilar tothosecontainedinthe Conventionon
the Law of the Non-navigational Uses of International
Watercourses.

75. Mr. Morshed (Bangladesh) expressed his
appreciation of the suggestion that during the meetings of
the Sixth Committeeonthereport of thelnternational L aw
Commission del egations should be enabled to enter into
dialogue with special rapporteurs on their topic. Such an
arrangement would be particularly valuable for small
delegations, such as his own.

76. Withregardtochapter IV, hisdelegationparticularly
welcomed thefact that the structure of thedraft articleson
nationality in relation to the succession of States
incorporated the right of option as an indispensable
element, to some extent mitigating the difficulties posed
by the notion of habitual residence, which, if applied
automatically, could hit whole groups of people with the
force of adiktat. His delegation was flexible on the final
form that the draft articles should take. The proposal for
the text to be a declaration of the General Assembly had
the merit of achieving a speedy conclusion.

77. With regard to chapter V, he said that the topic of
State responsibility was as fundamentally important as it
was difficult and, although great progress had been
achieved, much remained uncertain. Hisdel egation could
not address the points on which the Commission had
sought views until the structure of the draft articles
emerged more clearly. As for the questions posed in
paragraph 29 of the Commission’ s report, his delegation
offered sometentativeanswerswhichit would be happy to
reconsider inthelight of subsequent analysi sby the Special
Rapporteur and the Commission. Withregardto paragraph



A/C.6/54/SR.28

29 (a), theproposed distinction could bedrawnif thelegal
consequences for the injuring State were shown to be
different vis-a-vis the injured State from those vis-a-vis
other Stateswith only alegal interest in the performance
of the obligations. His delegation endorsed paragraph 29
(b), and also (c), for the reasons given by the Special
Rapporteur. On paragraph 29 (d), hisdelegation favoured
excluding questions raised by the existence of aplurality
of Statesuntil aself-contained set of articles based on the
normal paradigm had been worked out. In brief, his
delegation generally supported the Special Rapporteur’s
approach.

78. Withregardto chapter 1 X, his delegation noted that
the consideration of prevention had been separated from
that of liability merely for the sake of convenience. The
elaboration of a liability regime was at the core of the
Commission’s mandate and his delegation endorsed the
approach outlined by the representative of New Zealand.

79. Mr. Politi (ltaly), speaking on chapter VIII,
expressed his delegation’ s satisfaction with the general
definition of unilateral statementsby aState, containedin
paragraph 589 of the report, although it would have
preferred the inclusion of a specific reference to the
autonomous nature of the statement in order to make it
clear that thescopeof thetopicwasrestricted to actswhose
effectiveness in law was not conditional on the
manifestation of any other will besidesthat of theissuing
State. However, while in the current phase of the
Commission’s work the topic could be limited to acts
which were also unilateral declarations, the Commission
should not be deterred from considering at a later stage
other lessformal expressions of the will of the State.

80. His delegation agreed with the suggestion that the
Secretariat should prepare atypol ogy of thevariouskinds
of unilateral acts to be found in State practice. The
information provided by Statesin responseto therecently
issued questionnaire would be most useful. Perhaps the
guestionnaire could also raise other issues, such as the
relationship between unilateral acts and customary
international law and the validity of those acts when
contrary to General Assembly or Security Council
resolutions. Onthe more general question of the extent to
whichtherulesof the 1969 ViennaConventionontheLaw
of Treaties could be adapted to unilateral acts, the
Convention contained helpful guidelines, but the type of
act involved and the specific question at stake should be
carefully examinedtoverify, ineach case, theapplicability
of the solutionsit contained.

81. Withregard to chapter X, he said that the work on
theinherently difficult topic of international liability was
at a crucial stage. His delegation agreed with the
Commission’s decision to defer consideration of the
guestion of international liability pending completion of
the second reading of the draft articles on the prevention
of transboundary damage from hazardousactivities. Once
that wasdone, however, thework oninternational liability
should resume promptly. State practicein that spherewas
fairly developed in various specific sectors, which should
make it possible for the Commission to devise a global
regime. Todevelopinternational |egislationonprevention
and not on liability would leave the project incompl ete.

82. He welcomed the closer dialogue between the
Commission and the Committee. The presence of several
special rapporteurs had also proved helpful. A positive
development was the frequent requests for written
comments and responses to questionnaires by
Governments. The highest possible number of
Governments should provide such comments, in order to
make available a wide spectrum of opinions. He also
underlined the importance of the prompt publication and
distribution of the Commission’s report, thus giving
delegations sufficient time to make considered
contributions to the debate on the report. The
Commission’s consultations with scientific institutions,
individual experts and national or international
organizations were also most significant. Such contacts
served the important purpose of raising awareness of the
Commission'swork andintensifyingtheexchangeof ideas.

83. His delegation welcomed the Commission’s
conclusion that a flexible, needs-based position on the
duration and nature of its sessions should be maintained.
Helooked forward to an assessment of the outcome of the
split session to be held in Genevain 2000.

84. With regard to the long-term programme of work,
while all the possible topics were of substantive interest,
two—responsibility of international organi zationsandthe
effect of armed conflicts on treaties — were particularly
appropriate for inclusion.

85. Ms. Al-Naser (Kuwait) said that chapter 1V
concerning nationality in the event of the succession of
States was of great importance in resolving problems
connected with the nationality, identity and legal status of
natural persons. She commended the work and
recommendations of the Commission on that issue.

86. With reference to State responsibility, which was
covered by chapter V, her delegation, having heard the
views expressed, wanted State responsibility in respect of



A/C.6/54/SR.28

international obligations, aswell as breaches thereof and
the issue of conflicting international obligations, to be
resolved by referencetotheViennaConventiononthel aw
of Treaties of 1969.

87. Onthesubject of reservationsto treaties, dealt with
inchapter VI of thereport, her del egation considered that,
because of the frequency with which States availed
themselves of the right to formulate reservations, aright
specifiedintheViennaConvention ontheL aw of Treaties
of 1969, it had become necessary to develop a new draft
text to define practice in that respect. The Commission
should address the issue in aflexible manner but without
introducing any amendment to the Vienna Convention on
the Law of Treaties. Her delegation was in favour of
establishing aguideto practicein respect of reservations.
In that connection, it was necessary to draw adistinction
between areservation, aninterpretative declaration and a
unilateral statement relating to the text of conventions
because of their differing legal effects in international
practice. Her del egationwasthereforeinfavour of thedraft
guidelines that had been adopted at the fifty-first session
of the Commission and endorsed the comments that had
been made on it.

88. In connection with chapter VII of the report
concerning jurisdictional immunities of States and their
property, her del egation agreed with the suggestionsof the
working group contained in thereport relating to the five
mainissueslistedinparagraph 7 of theannex tothereport
and which had been a subject of disagreement between
States. In that connection, her delegation affirmed the
necessity of respecting the principle of State sovereignty
and said that, because of differences between theinternal
legal systemsof States, it was necessary to reach aunified
formulation of those issues.

89. Turning to the subject of international liability for
injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited
by international law, which was the subject of chapter I X
of the report, her delegation agreed that the Committee
should postpone its consideration of that issue until the
Commission had finalized its second reading of the draft
articles on prevention of transboundary damage from
hazardous activities.

90. Mr.Madureira (Portugal), speaking onchapter VI,
said that hisdel egation attached the utmost importanceto
the question of reservations to treaties. The 18 draft
guidelines constituting the first chapter of the Guide to
practicealready gaveanimpressiveideaof theimportance
and useful nessof theCommission’ stask. Thenext stepwas
to deal with another aspect of the subject requiring urgent

10

clarification: the effects of inadmissible reservations.
Indeed, it was often unclear which reservations were
acceptable and what effect objections had on reservations
totreaties. Theresult wasoften that each State becamethe
sole judge, in practical terms, of the compatibility of
reservationswiththeobject and purposeof thetreaty, since
there were no specific consequences attached to the
formulation of objections by other parties, however
numerous they were. Despite the fact that the increasing
number of objections to reservations deemed contrary to
thepurposeor integrity of treatieshad had apositiveresult
in preventing or reducing the number of reservations of
that nature, the problemremai ned. The Commissionshould
address the task with urgency. Other issues to consider
were modificationsto reservations; and the denunciation
of atreaty, followed by accession with reservations. Such
guestions had serious implications for the codification of
international law.

91. Turning to international liability for injurious
consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by
international law, hesaidthat hisdel egationwelcomedthe
focus on the regime of prevention but also believed in the
principle of compensation when transboundary harm
occurred. It had therefore supported draft articles4 and 5
on prevention and liability, respectively. The duty to pay
compensation, which would require the elaboration and
acceptance of an appropriate legal principle, should be
honoured whether the harm occurred as the result of a
breach of a due diligence duty, or despite the
implementation of preventive measures; inthelatter case,
thetypeof liability and compensation must be determined.
Heexpressed di sappointment at thedel etion of draft article
1 (b) on activitiesthat did not entail risks under ordinary
circumstances but could cause harmin specific instances.
Consistent with the Commission’ s original approach, his
delegationsupportedintegral treatment of thewholerange
of issues relating to international liability for injurious
consequences, including, inter alia, the question of
effective liability. Thus, his delegation strongly favoured
the first option offered by the Special Rapporteur with
respect to the future course of action on the question of
liability. Since the draft articles on prevention were
acceptable to the majority of delegations, there was no
reason to delay the treatment of other aspects of thetopic,
let alone to terminate the Commission’ s work.

92. Hisdelegationurged Governmentstorespondtothe
guestionnaires circulated by the Commission, which,
together with the answers, could be included in the
Commission’ shomepageonthelnternet. Heal so stressed
the importance of contacts with other bodies, such asthe



A/C.6/54/SR.28

treaty monitoringbodies, particularly intheareaof human
rights, in order to exchange information on various
matters, including reservations.

93. Ms. Alvarez-Nafiez (Cuba) said that the
Commission’s work on State responsibility should
culminateintheconclusion of aninternational convention.
Her delegation believed that any amendmentsto the draft
articleselaboratedin 1996 should becarefully considered,
since they were the product of several decades of erudite
work. In that connection, she said that, regardless of the
terminology used in article 19, a special regime of State
responsibility for serious breaches of an international
obligation was indispensable, since they constituted a
violation of international law. Her delegation agreed in
principle that the grounds for precluding State
responsibility should belimited to the extent possibleand
clearly defined. Draft article 33, however, should be
retainedinitscurrentform. Precluding Stateresponsibility
on the grounds of a state of necessity must never be
invoked asapretext for thebreach of jus cogens norms, for
example, the provisions of the Charter of the United
Nationsontheuseof force. Shefeared that draft article 34
on self-defence could lead to a reinterpretation of that
principleasset forthinthe Charter of the United Nations.

94. Her delegation had repeatedly expressed concern at
andrejectedtheconcept of countermeasures. L egitimizing
acts of reprisal for a wrongful act merely aggravated
differences between States. Furthermore, in many cases
small and devel oping countries would be unable to apply
countermeasuresagai nst devel oped countries. Thepeaceful
settlement of disputesshould belinkedto countermeasures
only in the most general terms.

95. Concerning reservations to treaties, she said that
calling into question the regime of reservations set out in
the 1969 and 1986 Vienna Conventions on the Law of
Treaties, far from promoting universality, would limit the
participation of States in multilateral instruments. An
integral approach must betakentoexaminingreservations
to treaties; in that respect, reservations to human rights
treatieswere no different from reservationsto other types
of treaties. In determining the admissibility and effects of
reservations, thetreaty bodies, which had been established
exclusively to monitor implementation, could not takethe
place of the States parties themselves.

96. Referring to international liability for injurious
consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by
international law, she said that States should take
responsibility for injurious consequences that occurred
within their territory, notwithstanding the civil liability

incurred for any damage resulting from such acts. Her
delegationagreedthat it wasal sothe State'sresponsibility
to ensurethat operatorsunder itsjurisdiction weretaking
preventive measures, and to assume subsidiary liability if
they were not.

97. Nationality in relation to the succession of States
dealt with a fundamental human right and entailed, as a
corollary, the prevention of statelessness. Her delegation
supported the Commission’ srecommendationtoadopt the
draft articlesasaGeneral Assembly declaration (A/54/10,
para. 44). The norms they embodied were sufficiently
flexible and would help States both to deal with the
problems of nationality arising from the succession of
States and to enact domestic legislation. She noted,
however, that the draft articles departed from certain
international practiceswith regard to the topic.

98. Her delegation supported the elaboration of a
convention on thejurisdictional immunities of Statesand
their property that would be acceptable to all States and
would take into account the commercial practices of the
devel oping countries. Thereport of theWorking Group on
Jurisdictional Immunities of States and their Property
formed a sound basis for future deliberations. The
Commission’s work on unilateral acts of States would
facilitate the development of friendly relations and
cooperation among Statesin an age of globalization. For
obviousreasons, her del egation attached great importance
tothetopic and would submititsviewsto the Commission
inwriting.

99. Mr. Edmond (Haiti) said that article 1 of the draft
articleson the nationality of natural personsinrelationto
the succession of Stateswasfirmly based onthe Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and other human rights
instruments affirming the right of every individual to a
nationality. The chief concern was to avoid having
individuals left stateless under all the varied forms that
succession might take. Thearticlesreflected the principle
of respect for the will of the persons concerned, while
achieving abalance between theinterests of the State and
thoseof individual s. Hisdel egati on supported theadoption
of thedraft preambleand articlesby the General Assembly
in the form of a declaration, which would contribute
towardsharmonizing national lawsonthesubject. Inview
of the lack of interest on the part of Statesin the question
of the nationality of legal persons, the Commission’s
decision not to proceed with the topic was justified.

100. The draft articles on jurisdictional immunities of
States and their property formed a sound basis for future
deliberation. His delegation shared the opinion of the

11



A/C.6/54/SR.28

Algerian delegation that to reduce the State to the status
of aprivateindividual by according it the same treatment
before aforeign jurisdiction undermined the principle of
sovereignty, which was fundamental to international law.
Notwithstanding, it was reasonable to apply measures of
constraint to any property of the State used for economic
and commercial activities, however, the notion of
commercial transactions had to be defined very carefully,
taking into account the purpose of an activity.

101. Inthehighly important work on Stateresponsibility,
his del egation was confident that the Special Rapporteur
would take into account the comments of States on the
articlesprovisionally adopted onfirstreadingontheorigin
of international responsibility.

102. Mr. Zellweger (Observerfor Switzerland), referring
to reservations to treaties, said that the inclusion of
examplesof unilateral statementsin draft guideline1.1.1
would elucidate the concepts of across-the-board
reservationsand “ specific aspects’. Whiledraft guideline
1.1.5 on statements purporting to limit the obligations of
their author seemed merely to repeat an element of the
definition of reservations already contained in draft
guideline 1.1, it became more meaningful in the context
of draft guideline 1.4.1 on statements purporting to
undertake unilateral commitments. The hypothesis
containedindraft guidelinel.1.6 onstatementspurporting
to discharge an obligation by equivalent means did not
really correspond to a widespread practice; however, the
Commission could addressit in the interest of promoting
the progressive development of international law.

103. Hisdelegation fully agreed that the silence of draft
guideline 1.2 on the moment when an interpretative
declaration could beformulated did notimply that it could
be formulated at any time and under any circumstances.
Perhaps that should be specified in the definition of
interpretative declarations.

104. His delegation was of the view that a unilateral
statement whereby aStateor aninternational organization
subordinated its consent to be bound by a treaty to a
specific interpretation of that treaty or certain of its
provisions correspond more closely to areservation than
an interpretative declaration. The purpose of an
interpretative declaration, however, was not to produce a
legal effect on the meaning and scope of treaty provisions
as they applied to all contracting parties. It would be
premature for the Commission to decide whether to view
conditional interpretative declarations as reservations or
draw a distinction between the two. A conclusive answer
waslikely toemergefromthe Commission’ sconsideration

12

of the legal regime applicable to reservations and
interpretative declarations. Draft guideline 1.3 on the
distinction between reservations and interpretative
declarations and draft guideline 1.3.2 on phrasing and
names were inextricably linked and should be merged or,
at least, appear in sequence, even if that meant placing
draft guideline 1.3.1 on the method of implementation of
the distinction between reservations and interpretative
declarations after all the draft guidelines on legal effect.

105. There appeared to be a contradiction between
paragraph (2) and paragraph (4) of the commentary on
draft guideline 1.3.3 on formulation of a unilateral
statement when a reservation is prohibited. On the one
hand, the Commission automatically viewed statements
madewherereservationswereprohibited asinterpretative
declarationsand, ontheother hand, maintainedthat it was
not the guideline’s purpose to determine what those
statements constituted. Paragraph (4) seemed to be more
in line with the Commission’s real intentions and also
reflected his delegation's interpretation of the draft
guidelines. However, the inclusion of a refutable
assumption was questionabl e; perhapsthe draft guideline
should simply indicate that, where reservationsto certain
of atreaty’s provisions were prohibited, that prohibition
did not extend to unilateral declarations which neither
excluded nor modified thelegal effect of those provisions.

106. Since the Guide to practice was meant as a tool to
assist States, it should not have the kind of legal scope
implied by the phrase “outside the scope of the present
Guideto practice”. That phrase, which appearedin all six
draft guidelinesunder section 1.4 onunilateral statements
other than reservations and interpretative declarations,
should be del eted.

107. Mr. Mikulka (Secretary of the Committee),
responding to a question raised by the representative of
Germany at a previous meeting, said that the additional
expenseof asplit session of theCommissionin2000would
beatotal of $105,230 ($90,000for airfarefor themembers
of the Commission, $8,000 for airfare for the secretariat
and $7,230 for additional daily subsistence allowance
paymentsfor thesecretariat). Shortening thesession by one
week would save $59,085 in daily subsistence allowance
payments for the Commission members and secretariat.

108. Ms.Fernandez de Gurmendi (Argentina) askedfor
acomparison of the costsof holding the sessionin Geneva
and in New York.

109. Mr. Mikulka (Secretary of the Committee) saidthat
if al or part of the session were held in New York the
additional cost would be even higher.



A/C.6/54/SR.28

110. Mr.DiazPaniagua(CostaRica) saidthat asamatter
of principle his delegation believed that discussion of
financial matters should be | eft to the Fifth Committee.

111. Mr. Hanson-Hall (Ghana) said that the Committee
had a duty to discuss matters with budget implications
before making decisions concerning bodies under its
purview.

112. Ms. Willson (United Statesof America) saidthat the
Committee should not make decisionswithout being fully
informed. She would like to know the estimated savings
to beachieved from devoting oneweek at the beginning or
end of the Commission session to meetings requiring
limited attendance, as suggested in the report.

113. Mr.Mikulka (Secretary of theCommittee) saidthat,
whilethefiguresweresomewhat specul ative, heestimated
that about $18,000 could be saved in daily subsistence
allowance payments during aweek of limited rather than
full attendance.

114. Mr.Gomaa (Egypt) and Ms. Alvarez Nufiez (Cuba)
said that, at that level of financial detail, the discussion
properly belonged in the Fifth Committee.

115. Mr. Rodriguez Cedefio (Special Rapporteur of the
International Law Commissionfor unilateral acts) saidthat
heconcurredwiththeviewsexpressed by many delegations
that better, more direct communication between the Sixth
Committeeand the Commission’ sspecial rapporteurswas
indispensable. It was to be hoped that more informal
meetings could be arranged in parallel to the sessions of
thetwo bodies. Thedebatehehad heard on unilateral acts,
the issue for which he was responsible, had been very
complete and would be helpful to him in the preparation
of his third report and to the Commission at its next
session. He had particularly noted States’ views on the
elements of the definition of unilateral acts, on the
suspension, modificationand revocation of unilateral acts,
and on the suitability of the 1969 Vienna Convention on
theLaw of Treatiesasaframeof reference. Unilateral acts
had special characteristics that distinguished them from
conventional actsand madeamutatis mutandis application
of thelaw of treatiesinadvisable. Aboveall, he had noted
the emphasis on the need for more research into State
practice. Inthat regard, Governments’ responsetothedraft
guestionnaire on State practice prepared at the request of
the Commission’s Working Group on Unilateral Acts of
States would be invaluable.

116. Mr. Galicki (Chairman of the International Law
Commission) said that without substantial input by
Governments the work of the Commission would not be

effective or useful. The Commission, asabody of experts,
relied onexisting caselaw, Statepracticeand other sources
of international law. But projecting law for the future
requiredtheconsiderationof political reality, andthat was
what States should bring to the work of the Commission.
He therefore urged Governments to reply as quickly as
possibletorequestsfor informationfromthe Commission.
The comments made in the Committee would also be
summarized by the secretariat and considered carefully by
the special rapporteurs and the Commission at its next
session. Theobservationsof thelegal adviser of theUnited
Kingdom on the interaction between the Committee and
the Commission had raised points worth further
consideration.

117. TheCommittee’ scommentshad shownthat thework
of the Commission at its past session had been well
received. The credit went not only to the members of the
Commission, but alsotothe Governmentsthat had devoted
time to answering questionnaires and to the Committee
secretariat, which, among other things, had enabled the
results of the session to be disseminated immediately on
the Internet.

118. Many delegationshad commented on how rapidly the
Commission had completed its work and the importance
of keeping up the momentum. The Commission would do
everything in its power to satisfy all hopes, but the
Committee should be aware that the following year’s
agendawasparticularly heavy, includingreportsby special
rapporteurs on nearly every topic. Moreover, the
Commission wished to seize the opportunity to complete
the work on State responsibility in the current
quinquennium, perhapsin the year 2000, and that would
mean alonger session and concentration on that topic. He
hoped for the continued support of the Committee in that
regard.

The meeting rose at 1.10 p.m.

13



